

Title Selecting the Best Laptop for College Graduate Students

Course Title:	Decision Making
Course:	ETM 530
Instructor:	Dr. Kenny Phan
Term:	Winter, 2015
Authors:	Felix Sie
	Rafaa Khalifa
	Raghunath Viswanatha
	Yasaswi Deepak Kancherla

	ETM OFFICE USE ONLY
Report No.:	
Type:	Student Project
Note:	



PRIORITIZATION OF MOBILE BANKING ADOPTION FACTORS

ETM530/630 – Decision Making

Winter 2015

Instructor

Dr. Kenny Phan

TEAM 3:

Felix Sie

Rafaa Khalifa

Raghunath Viswanatha

Yasaswi Deepak Kancherla



PORTLAND STATE UNIVERSITY



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The advancement of the internet and information technology has been a great vehicle for the development of solutions for all human endeavors. The banking and the financial services sector has advanced from traditional banking services to internet-based banking. In recent times, banks and financial services firms have developed software solutions such as, ATM locator, Mobile banking and others which makes it easier and convenient for the user to have access to the bank without ever walking into the banking hall. The general adoption of mobile banking solutions worldwide is still not that encouraging. There are several drivers which affect the adoption of these internet-based banking solutions, such as socio-economic factors, mobile device adoption, and user behavior to name a few. The present project focuses on enumerating the key factors for user adoption of mobile banking solutions. The factors are then grouped into multiple perspectives and prioritized using the Hierarchical Decision Model (HDM). The results are ranked, discussed and then appropriate suggestions and conclusions are drawn. Our results show that all the factors are important but reliability and privacy are the most important factors that banks should pay much attention to during design and development of mobile banking solutions. We conclude that if a bank pays attention to providing a solution that meets the user's reliability expectation, then the privacy risk can be further minimized since the user might have more confidence that their information will also be handled in the right way, which will not compromise their privacy.



TABLE OF CONTENTS

Exe	cutive Summary	.3
1	Introduction	.5
2	Literature Review	.6
2.1	Evolution of Mobile banking	.7
2.2	Common Features and Services of Mobile Banking	.7
3	Technology Adoption Perspectives	.9
3.1	Personal Perspective	10
3.2	Technical Perspective	12
3.3	Security1	13
4	Research Model and Methodology	14
5	Data Collection	15
6	Results and Data Analysis	17
7	Conclusions	22
8	Limitations and Future work	23
9	References	25



1 INTRODUCTION

Mobile banking is a system which allows the customers of a financial institutions to conduct transactions through mobile communication technology in conjunction with mobile devices such as a smartphone or a tablet. The earliest form of mobile banking was SMS banking which allowed users to receive simple messages about changes on their account and assessing their account balance [27]. In recent years, this system of banking has evolved and expanded mainly due to the proliferation of smartphones and other mobile devices which allow the creation of rich software applications and content. Consequently, banks and financial institutions in their quest to reach more customers and sustain their existing customers, are creating robust solutions for mobile platforms. In addition to reaching more customers, this will allow them to provide their services to the customers in a very flexible fashion at a reduced cost. This does not require many banking outlets or ATM machines as can be noted with traditional banking.

The US banking market saw the introduction of the mobile banking system in 2007 as an extension of the features of the existing online banking which had been quite successful at the time [27]. As of the beginning of 2014, the US mobile banking market has seen a growth with 33% of mobile phone users using a mobile banking services in the last 12 months [7]. The global adoption rate is expected to keep growing as mobile devices keep penetrating different countries and the consumer markets [7].

The adoption of mobile banking services is incumbent on different factors such as technology development, consumer lifestyle, and socio-economic environments [17]. For instance, as mobile devices and communication technology become more robust, financial institutions will be able to leverage that to create more sophisticated solutions to satisfy customers' needs. Our research focuses on investigating the mobile banking adoption factors from a customer's perspective. We recognize that the financial institutions main goal is to find out what the key factors are that customers consider while making an adoption decision of mobile banking applications. The knowledge of these factors will help them to develop the best possible solution in a very cost effective way.



Although mobile banking has been shown by [27] and other papers to be cost effective and provides personalized and convenient services, the adoption rate is still not encouraging. For instance [8] shows that though mobile phone adoption has jumped to about 105% in the US, the adoption rate of mobile banking services is still around 30%. This trend can be noted in developed markets where mobile phone adoption is high [8].

This research aims to investigate the factors which influence the decision of a potential customer to adopt mobile banking application. The research assumes that other barriers, such as mobile phone adoption, wireless network communication, and socio-economic factors have been considered and found suitable.

The work done under this project is organized in the following way:

- A literature review of mobile banking adoption factors was performed to analyze and identify various factors.
- The factors are then grouped in perspectives using Hierarchical Decision Model (HDM) to group the factors into perspectives, and
- Conduct a customer survey to evaluate which of the factors are important.
- The results are analyzed, and conclusion are drawn.

2 LITERATURE REVIEW

Cognitive barriers of individuals who are reluctant to use new information technology cost an organization millions of dollars, researchers have pointed out. A better understanding of those barriers could improve the efficiency and effectiveness of the firm, as well as the quality of resulting information underlying management decisions [7]. To conduct this kinds of user behavior studies about technology adoption, researchers have used tools such as the technology adoption model (TAM) and the



Theory of Reasoned Action (TRA) to study the importance of various determinants [17].

2.1 EVOLUTION OF MOBILE BANKING

Mobile banking allows users to access banking services conveniently through their mobile devices such as a smartphone or a tablet. The concept of mobile banking has being in existence in the late 90's [17], taking off from advancement in online banking which allowed customers to perform basic transactions via the internet browser. The earliest form of mobile banking was introduced by European banks in the form of SMS banking, where users had basic functionality on their account through SMS alerts and notifications [18]. Mobile Internet allowed users to access the existing online banking channels through optimized browsers for the mobile devices. This allowed for many more banking services to be delivered on mobile devices [27].

In 2007, banks in the United States started to create mobile software applications which were specially developed to work with mobile devices and was perceived by the industry as the most cost effective as compared to the existing channels [27].

2.2 COMMON FEATURES AND SERVICES OF MOBILE BANKING

Most large banks especially in the U.S offer a basic mobile banking solution for their consumers. The most common services available today are:

- Account alerts, security alerts and reminders
- Account balances, updates and history
- Customer service via mobile
- Branch or ATM location information
- Bill pay i.e., electric bill, deliver online payments by secure agents and mobile client applications



- Funds transfers
- Transaction verification
- Mortgage alerts

Advancement in technology has allowed many complicated and robust solutions such as e-commerce payments, contactless payments using Near Field Communications (NFC), to become easily accessible to bank customers [20].

Table 1 is a summary of the factors mentioned in most literatures affecting technology adoption in general and specifically mobile banking.

Factors	Description	References
Phone adoption	Cell phone technology adoption [Mobile User]	[7][8][20][29][34]
Privacy	Concern for Personal Information	[4][6][13][20][22][29][34]
Cost of usage	Cost of services/applications	[3][6][8][12][13][20][25][26][29][34]
Competitive advantage	Competing with other banks	[15]
	Updates, maintenance and technical service for	·[15]
Cost of maintenance	the application	
Market size	Mobile user/OS market share	[7][20]
Ubiquity	Use anywhere	[13][15][20][22][36]
Perceived Ease of Use	How easy is it to use	[4][5][8][13][20][22][28][29][35][36]
Perceived		[4][8][20][28][29][35][36]
Usefulness/Services		
Delivered	How useful is it	
Design	UI/Flow	[20][29]

Table 1: Technology adoption factors



Factors	Description	References
Regulation	Regional/State/Federal minimum requirements	[7][15][36]
Life style Compatibility	Compatibility with new innovations	[8][13][28][34]
Technical Compatibility	Compatible with mobile OS version (install from App store or install an software executable)	[1][5][8][11][14][26][29]
Convenience	Convenience of access anytime and anywhere, and ability to react immediately.	[4][8][13][35]
Security	The degree to which a user's information is free from theft	ALL

3 TECHNOLOGY ADOPTION PERSPECTIVES

[16] and [17] have discussed the fact that there are several perspectives toward an individual's decision to adopt a technology; some of being include organizational factors such as training, economical benefits and social networks. For our purposes, we limit our research to two mobile banking end user perspectives: Technical perspective and Personal perspective.

The technical perspective reflects a technology's functioning and observable characteristics as depicted in [19]. In this research the technical perspective covers all the user adoption factors relating to how a mobile banking application functions. The personal perspective similarly is shown in [19], as the subjective opinions of individuals which can have an impact on decision making. The personal perspective in this research mirrors a user's subjective perception about mobile banking solution.

From summary of factors in Table 1 the factors which directly impacts a user's decision assuming a mobile banking application has been developed and is introduced into the market are selected. There are grouped in Table 2.



Table 2: Factors Impacting a Mobile Banking User's Decision

Adoption Perspective	Adoption Criteria	Definition			
	Privacy	Users faith in the bank, application developer, and the mobile platform to keep the information safe			
Personal	Cost	Perceived cost reflects either direct or indirect charges associated with mobile banking application.			
Personal	Perceived Ease of Use	Perceived ease of use can be defined as the degree to which a person believes that using a particular system is free of effort.			
	Perceived Usefulness	Perceived Usefulness reflects the quality and quantity of services delivered via mobile banking.			
	Reliability	Reliability reflects level of confidence that the user has that he/she will be able to able to successfully complete a task/service begun from the mobile application.			
Technical	Compatibility	Technical compatibility related to the current version of mobile environment and its compatibility with the mobile application.			
	Ubiquity	Ubiquity means that with the help of mobile terminals and networks, users can access mobile banking at anytime from anywhere.			

3.1 PERSONAL PERSPECTIVE

Privacy

Privacy relates to the user's trust that their information will not be compromised in the process of using the ensuing solution. [4] identifies this factor as trust and was cited as the contributing factor which inhibits the adoption of a mobile application. This factor



relates with security is much concerned with who is authorized to see the customer's information during the process of transactions. [6] mentions that during the adoption of mobile banking solutions, customers are concerned about their information being available to third parties. [20] presents privacy as a dominant factor to consider in the design of a mobile banking deployment. [2] places authorized access as one of the key factors to the design requirement of a mobile bank application for which customers will be satisfied. We have selected it to reflect this highly recommended position by the reviewed literatures.

Perceived Cost

In [24] the key factors stimulating and hindering the adoption of mobile-banking were identified and tested. The research also pointed to the effect of user's attitude on the intention of use. The outcome of their research came with some significant results; one of them was perceived cost and its significant effects on the adoption of Mobile-banking. Researchers in [3] and [12] referred in their previous studies to the perceived cost can be a large barrier to adoption of mobile-banking. [25] found out that costs have a significant negative effect on behavioral inclination for using cell-phone for business. On the other hand, [26] emphasized that low costs can encourage customers to use ebanking. Other researchers concluded that there is a negative relationship between perceived cost and intention to use mobile-banking. With more clarification, this means that the higher the cost of using a new technology such as mobile-banking, lesser will be its use.

Perceived Ease of Use

Perceived ease of use was defined in [5] as "the degree to which a person believes that using a particular system is free of effort". [22] indicates that Perceived ease of use reflects the difficulty of using mobile banking due to constraints such as small screens, inconvenient inputs and difficulty in operating in the absence of a good interface. An easy to use mobile application will provide an intuitive interface, innovative entry methods, ample tips and suggestions on how to perform a task, and corrective feedback



when necessary. This will allow the user to spend less time in the application figuring out the structure and menu system and efficiently get through the task.

Perceived usefulness

Technology adoption model (TAM) proposes that a consumer of a given innovation or solution considers its usefulness in their quest to adopt it. This perceived usefulness according to researchers affects a user's intent to buy into the solution or not [28]. With regard to mobile banking adoption, perceived usefulness is crafted as relative advantage by [28], where it is defined as "the degree to which the application is a better alternative relative to current products and services". Also, [29] discusses design requirements emanating from customer needs for a mobile application development and created variables surrounding how the application can be personalized, scaled and have functionalities aside from the core banking needs. These variables constitute perceived usefulness. [30] argues that customers do not chose the mobile banking solutions because they are not sufficiently diversified. Furthermore, [8] conducted a survey on the factors affecting the adoption of mobile banking and concluded that perceived usefulness was a key factor to the adoption.

3.2 TECHNICAL PERSPECTIVE

Reliability

Reliability reflects level of confidence that the user has that he/she will be able to successfully complete a task/service begun from the mobile application. It is nothing but a consumer's confidence that a new technology performs its job precisely and consistently [14]. Reliability and other factors may also differ from person to person. For example a student may need mobile banking application for less cost and may want more functionality, whereas professionals may need reliability of the application and ease of use [31].



Ubiquity

Ubiquity has been explained by [22] as the availability of mobile banking services with the help of mobile terminal and networks allowing users access at anytime from anywhere without any restrictions. [23] describes ubiquity as a means by which the user should be able to access the mobile banking services independent of his or her current geographic location. In today's fast paced world an average user wants to be able to access information instantaneously. With availability of 'smart' technologically advanced mobile devices with connectivity services, such as Wireless Fidelity (Wi-Fi) and cellular services, users enjoy freedom from time and location.

Technical compatibility

Compatibility has been found influential in the adoption of the virtual store. [11] referred to the likely relation between compatibility and adaption that will hold in the context of mobile banking. Compatibility is an important aspect of innovation as conformance with users' lifestyles can propel a faster rate of adoption [21]. A number of previous researches have examined the important factors with the involvement of the mobile banking adoption including some attributes that have relationship with innovation adoption [9]. Compatibility had significant correlation with computer adaption, the relation between compatibility and adaption will hold in the context of mobile banking [11].

3.3 SECURITY

From our literature review, Security has been found as the most important factor. One of the key challenges that a customer faces in adoption of mobile banking is the lack of confidence in security [32]. Since the security risk of a banking system is of importance not only to the customers but could expose the bank to exploitation, it was a dominant concern raised in all the literatures as major factor banks need to be concerned about. Since security is an important factor that needs to be considered at all costs, it was taken out of the analysis.



4 RESEARCH MODEL AND METHODOLOGY

We have opted for HDM - a multi criteria decision tool to evaluate and prioritize our factors because it refines the classic AHP (Analytic Hierarchy Process) by evaluating subjective judgements. This process evaluates factors by pairwise comparison and measures them with a constant-sum measurement scale from 1-99 values.



Figure 1: HDM Research model for Factor Prioritization

Using the rubrics of the HDM methodology, we organized the technology adoption criteria into the two categories which portray the logical organization of ideas as is known for multi criteria decision tools. The top level of the HDM method is the objective of the decision; in our case this refers to the prioritization of the customer mobile banking adoption factors. The second level shows the technology adoption perspectives discussed in the previous sections ie., Technical (Technology) and Personal perspectives. The factors under investigation: Privacy, Perceived Ease of Use, Perceived Usefulness, Perceived Cost, Technical Compatibility, Ubiquity, and Reliability are organized as shown the Figure 1.

Since our research was to study and prioritize the factors which influence the adoption decision of customers, we designed our survey to target existing customers and potential customers of banking solutions. Each of the people in our sample space was educated and have at least a first degree. Also they each have used or were aware of mobile banking software applications.



5 DATA COLLECTION

The HDM model was created using the web-tool developed in house at ETM department. The link to the web-tool with the hierarchical model was then sent out random number of individuals. Sufficient care was taken that the surveyors either understood English language or were native English speakers. Also ample information was provided as to what the definitions of the factors are and the purpose of the survey so as to lessen the burden on the surveyors. A total of 20 individuals responded to the survey. The HDM web-tool is not only capable of creating the survey but simultaneous perform Pair-Wise Comparison Method (PCM) on the result set and then produce results as seen in Table 3.

Table 3: HDM Results

Surveyor	Privacy	Cost	Perceived Ease of Use	Perceived Usefulness	Reliability	Compatibility	Ubiquity	Inconsistency
A1	0.34	0.10	0.09	0.12	0.19	0.08	0.08	0.00
A2	0.05	0.08	0.09	0.13	0.35	0.17	0.13	0.00
A3	0.15	0.09	0.17	0.26	0.16	0.10	0.07	0.01
A4	0.65	0.01	0.01	0.07	0.25	0.00	0.00	0.01
A5	0.15	0.14	0.12	0.09	0.27	0.12	0.12	0.01
A6	0.00	0.02	0.60	0.28	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.13
A7	0.12	0.05	0.18	0.64	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.08
A8	0.11	0.07	0.16	0.16	0.30	0.10	0.10	0.00
A9	0.28	0.03	0.01	0.08	0.38	0.15	0.06	0.06



Surveyor	Privacy	Cost	Perceived Ease of Use	Perceived Usefulness	Reliability	Compatibility	Ubiquity	Inconsistency
A10	0.15	0.04	0.16	0.15	0.13	0.10	0.27	0.01
A11	0.17	0.05	0.17	0.12	0.16	0.12	0.21	0.00
A12	0.03	0.06	0.08	0.13	0.13	0.35	0.22	0.03
A13	0.21	0.28	0.09	0.22	0.13	0.02	0.04	0.07
A14	0.11	0.05	0.11	0.22	0.14	0.17	0.19	0.01
A15	0.41	0.08	0.15	0.16	0.14	0.01	0.05	0.01
A16	0.20	0.11	0.14	0.16	0.13	0.12	0.13	0.00
A17	0.13	0.08	0.06	0.12	0.25	0.20	0.15	0.00
A18	0.07	0.03	0.04	0.10	0.36	0.30	0.11	0.01
A19	0.10	0.05	0.04	0.13	0.22	0.22	0.22	0.01
A20	0.17	0.05	0.13	0.15	0.19	0.13	0.19	0.01
Min	0.00	0.01	0.01	0.07	0.01	0.00	0.00	
Max	0.65	0.28	0.60	0.64	0.38	0.35	0.27	
Mean	0.18	0.07	0.13	0.17	0.20	0.12	0.12	
STD	0.15	0.06	0.12	0.12	0.10	0.10	0.08	
								Disagreement = 0.1



The results produced are further analyzed to see if some conclusions can be drawn either about the selections made by the surveyors or the surveyors stake of interest in the technology adoption as applied to Mobile Banking Application.

6 RESULTS AND DATA ANALYSIS

Total factors:

The line chart shows the weighted factors of 20 experts, A1 thru A20, across all seven factors (privacy, cost, perceived ease of use, perceived usefulness, reliability, compatibility and ubiquity).



Figure 2: Chart Overlaying HDM Results

Among all these, reliability ranked highest amongst all factors with a mean of 0.20, while the cost ranked the lowest with 0.07. The privacy factor followed reliability with



0.18. Perceived usefulness and perceived ease of use ranked after privacy with 0.17 and 0.13 respectively. Finally, the ubiquity and compatibility factor show equal weights with 0.12.

Factors	Mean (Overall)	Ranking
Reliability	0.20	1
Privacy	0.18	2
Usefulness	0.17	3
Ease of Use	0.13	4
Ubiquity	0.12	5
Compatibility	0.12	5
Cost	0.07	7

Table 4: Scaled Ranking Results

Descriptive Statistics Analysis:

Reliability: The mean indicates that this factor was the most preferred of the factors considered in this survey. With a low standard deviation it indicates that the preference was in general for reliability of the mobile banking application.

Privacy: The mean indicates that privacy was preferred after reliability. The min and max are far apart on this factor with a standard deviation of 0.15, which seems to indicate that the surveyors were not too consistent in their selection of privacy. This is surprising as many articles that were researched, as referenced in Table 2, privacy was given a high importance in being a critical factor while considering the adoption of mobile banking application.



Cost: The min, max and the standard deviation seem to indicate that the surveyors consistently chose something else over cost of services or application.

Perceived Ease of Use and Perceived Usefulness: The data indicates that these options in general were favored less with a given few favoring it more than the others.

Compatibility and Ubiquity: The data indicates that these are the least favored after cost. The surveyors were consistent in their low ranking for these two technology factors.

Correlation Analysis:

The above data was further analyzed using the Data Analysis tools in Excel and thus producing the following Table 5 for correlation.

	Privacy	Cost	Perceived Ease of Use	Perceived Usefulness	Reliability	Compatibility	Ubiquity
Privacy	1.000						
Cost	-0.013	1.000					
Perceived Ease of Use	-0.370	-0.132	1.000				
Perceived Usefulness	-0.259	0.023	0.401	1.000			
Reliability	0.125	-0.093	-0.619	-0.661	1.000		
Compatibility	-0.490	-0.191	-0.426	-0.414	0.438	1.000	
Ubiquity	-0.399	-0.139	-0.259	-0.382	0.097	0.648	1.000

Table 5: Correlation Analysis



For the sake of analysis, a magnitude of correlation coefficient of less than 0.4 is considered to have weak correlation and is not discussed here, while a magnitude of correlation coefficient between 0.4 and 0.5 is considered to have slight correlation, and finally a magnitude of the coefficient higher than 0.5 is considered to have significant correlation [33].

From the table presented above, the following seem to have a positive correlation Compatibility and Ubiquity have the highest positive correlation. This seems to indicate that the surveyors who picked Compatibility would consider Ubiquity as one of the important factors affecting their mobile banking adoption. On the other hand Perceived Ease of Use and Perceived Usefulness both share a negative correlation with Reliability. This suggests that ones who considered reliability as a favorable factor did not weigh the usefulness and ease of use of the mobile application and vice versa. The table above highlights some of the other correlations as observed (green as positive correlation and red as negative correlation).

Inconsistency:

The HDM web-tool also provides a measure of inconsistency per surveyor to denote how the results from one surveyor significantly differs from rest. This inconsistency numbers for the 20 surveyors can be seen in Figure 3.

Figure 4 indicates the difference of experts' views on how to choose the key factors. The majority of views followed a fairly similar pattern among 6 out of 20 experts, all remaining at between 0 and 0.02. About 80% of total factors weighed between 0 and 0.3 scales, however a small set of factors exceeded up to 0.65.

In spite of the limited availability of time, the project experts' inconsistency (known as disagreement) is indicated with value of 0.1 which is deemed acceptable based on the recommendation of the ETM department faculty.





Figure 3: Inconsistency Results



Figure 4: Histogram of HDM Results



7 CONCLUSIONS

In conclusion the survey was able to identify the key factors that typically affect the adoption of a mobile banking application. This survey was not intended to present a winner or loser as all the factors chosen here are all carefully considered and selected after research in the field of mobile banking adoption around the world.

The highest ranking factors here were reliability and privacy with reliability leading slightly over privacy. This can inferred as the user of the mobile application would prefer that the application be consistent and reliably provide services. That would essentially provide a sense of trust [22] and cultivate faith in the bank providing the mobile application and hence relieve some of the privacy concerns that the user may have.

The lowest ranking factors are Cost, Compatibility and Ubiquity with Cost as the least favorite. Cost of the mobile application and/or the services provided seem to be not a matter of concern as long as the application was reliable and provided the services needed.

From the correlation analysis, it seemed obvious that the users who picked Perceived Ease of Use and Perceived Usefulness did not really care for Reliability/Privacy or some of the other technology related factors. This seems to indicate that the user group that these factors were important for someone who was invested in latest technology and carried a level of personal innovation and perhaps can be said to be ones who are willing to take the risk. This user group is more likely to adopt a newer technology or application.

Correlation analysis also indicated that technology factors Compatibility and Ubiquity when favored seem to be less concerned with the personal factors which suggests the user group is less technology savvy and perhaps carried older technology products. This group is less likely to adopt newer technology or application.

One of the key factors that was carefully omitted during the research was Security. It was agreed and understood that Security was a very important factor in Mobile



banking application adoption. It is so important that if it was to be included in the survey, it would have undermined importance of other factors under this research. Even though the research indicates reliability, Security should be given utmost importance while considering the factors that affect Mobile Banking Adoption.

HDM web-tool proved to an excellent aid when considering such survey. It is powerful enough to crunch the numbers and provide the data so most time is spent on analyzing the data and not trying to do the PCM cumbersome math.

Banks need to take this survey into consideration while investing in the development of mobile banking applications and should push for security, reliability, and privacy as key factors. On an average the user will adopt and pay for any banking services, if the application possess such qualities.

8 LIMITATIONS AND FUTURE WORK

Limitations

Even though the survey provides excellent results, it is not without limitations. The survey was limited to individuals residing in United States and hence the results apply to only that market. If the same survey were to be conducted elsewhere the results would significantly vary per the demographics of that region. The survey response was limited to 20 respondents. With a significant more respondents, the results could've been different. Example: Privacy was leading the survey when only 18 individuals had responded to the survey.

Surveyor personal/demographic information was not collected. This could've shed some more light on user adoption trends. The HDM web-tool alone cannot be used for this kind of information gathering, additional survey needs to be sent out or somehow combined together to get most out of the tool.

Future Work:



This study needs to be performed on a larger scale and also consider personal/demographic information of the surveyor to provide a comprehensive picture of the user adoption of mobile banking. Security was removed from the scope of this research but there is much to be investigated to understand what aspects of security are more important to a user. Furthermore, mobile user profile should be taken into consideration to better understand what kind of a mobile user is less likely to adopt a new technology and what factors affect that user's technology adoption.



9 REFERENCES

[1] Chen L., A model of consumer acceptance of mobile payment. International *Journal of Mobile Communications*. Vol. 6. NO. 1:32-52, 2008

[2] Claessens, J., Dem, V., De Cock, D., Preneel, B., & Vandewalle, J. (2002). On the security of today's online electronic banking systems. *Computers & Security*, 21(3), 253-265.

[3] Dahlberg, T., Mallat, N., Ondrus, J., Zmijewska, A., 2008. Past, present and future of mobile payments research: a literature review. *Electronic Commerce Research and Applications* 7(2), 165-181.

[4] Dass, R., & Pal, S. (2010). Exploring the Factors Affecting the Adoption of Mobile Financial Services among the Rural Under-banked and its implications for Microfinance Institutions.

[5] Davis FD (1989) Perceived usefulness, perceived ease of use, and user acceptance of information technology. MIS Quart 13(3): 319–340

[6] Federal Reserve Board's Division of Consumer and Community Affairs. (2014, March 31). Consumers and Mobile Financial Services. Retrieved March 6, 2015, from http://www.federalreserve.gov/econresdata/consumers-and-mobile-financialservices-report-201403.pdf

[7] Gupta, S. (2013). The Mobile Banking and Payment Revolution. European Financial Review, 3-6.

[8] Hanafizadeh, P., Behboudi, M., Koshksaray, A. A., & Tabar, M. J. S. (2014). Mobile-banking adoption by Iranian bank clients. *Telematics and Informatics*, 31(1), 62-78.

[9] Ibrahim M., Sadiq S., Mobile Banking adoption: Application of Diffusion of Innovation Theory, *Journal of Electronic Commerce Research*, Vol 13, NO 4, 2012.

[10] Khraim, H. S., Shoubaki, Y. E., & Khraim, A. S. (2011). Factors affecting Jordanian consumers' adoption of mobile banking services. *International Journal of Business and Social Science*, 2(20), 96-105.



[11] Al-Gahtani, S., Computer Technology Adoption in Saudi Arabia: Correlates of Perceived Innovation Attributes. *Information Technology for Development*, Vol. 10, No. 1:57-69, 2003.

[12] Kleijnen, M., de Ruyter, K., Wetzels, M., 2004. Consumer adoption of wireless services: discovering the rules, while playing the game. *Journal of Interactive Marketing*, 18 (20, 51-61.

[13] Laukkanen, T. (2007). Internet vs mobile banking: comparing customer value perceptions. *Business Process Management Journal*, 13(6), 788-797.

[14] LEE, E. J., Lee, J., & Eastwood, D. (2003). A two-step estimation of consumer adoption of technology-based service innovations. *Journal of Consumer Affairs*, 37(2), 256-282.

[15] Malhotra, R. (2012). Factors affecting the adoption of mobile banking in New Zealand: a thesis presented in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Masters in Information Technology in Information Systems at Massey University, Albany campus, New Zealand (Doctoral dissertation).

[16] Michalisin, M., Conrad, E., & Karau, S. (2013, March 7). Factors identified that influence willingness to use new information technology. Retrieved March 6, 2015, from http://news.psu.edu/story/267639/2013/03/07/science-and-technology/factors-identified-influence-willingness-use-new.

[17] Majharul T. (2012), Factors affecting the adoption of technological innovation by individual employees: An Australian study, Asia Pacific Business Innovation and technology management society

[18] "The world's first WAP banking from Norway". (1999, September 24). Retrieved March 11, 2015, from http://www.itavisen.no/nyheter/verdens-første-wap-bank-fra-norge-41812

[19] Linstone, H. A. (1984), *Multiple Perspectives for Decision Making*, Elsevier North-Holland, New York.

[20]Mobile Marketing Association. (2009, January 31). Mobile Banking Overview(NA).RetrievedMarch7,2015,fromhttp://mmaglobal.com/files/mbankingoverview.pdf

[21] Rogers, E. M. (2003). *Diffusion of Innovations*. Simon and Schuster.



[22] Zhou T. (2011, December). Examining mobile banking user adoption from the perspectives of trust and flow experience. *Journal of Information Technology and Management*. Vol 13, Issue 1, pp 27-37

[23] Tiwari, R., Buse, S., & Herstatt, C. (2006, June). Customer on the move: strategic implications of mobile banking for banks and financial enterprises. *In E-Commerce Technology, 2006. The 8th IEEE International Conference on and Enterprise Computing, E-Commerce, and E-Services, The 3rd IEEE International Conference on* (pp. 81-81). IEEE.

[24] Wessels, L., Drennan, J., 2010. An investigation of consumer acceptance of mobile-banking. *International Journal of bank marketing*. 28 (7), 547-568.

[25] Wu, J.H., Wang, S.C., 2005. What drives' mobile commerce? An empirical evaluation of the revised technology acceptance model. *Information and Management*, 42 (5), 719-729.

[26] Sathye M., (1999). Adoption on internet banking by Australian consumers: an empirical investigation. *International Journal of Bank Marketing*, 17 (7), 324-334.

[27] Gupta, S., & Norris, M. (2012). Bank of America: Mobile Banking (Abridged). *Harvard Business School Case*, 512-082.

[28] Püschel, J., Afonso Mazzon, J., & Mauro C. Hernandez, J. (2010). Mobile banking: proposition of an integrated adoption intention framework. *International Journal of Bank Marketing*, *28*(5), 389-409.

[29] Pousttchi, K., & Schurig, M. (2004, January). Assessment of today's mobile banking applications from the view of customer requirements. In *System Sciences, 2004. Proceedings of the 37th Annual Hawaii International Conference on* (pp. 10-pp). IEEE.

[30] Suoranta, M. (2003). *Adoption of mobile banking in Finland*. Jyväskylän yliopisto.

[31] Zhou, T., Lu, Y., & Wang, B. (2010). Integrating TTF and UTAUT to explain mobile banking user adoption. *Computers in Human Behavior*, *26*(4), 760-767.

[32] Pegueros, V. (2012). Security of Mobile Banking and Payments. *SANS Institute InfoSec Reading Room*.

[33] Noor, M. M. (2011). Determining critical success factors of mobile banking adoption in Malaysia. *Australian Journal of Basic and Applied Sciences*, *5*(9), 252-265



[34] Shaikh, A. A., & Karjaluoto, H. (2015). Mobile banking adoption: A literature review. *Telematics and Informatics*, 32(1), 129-142.

[35] Thakur, R. (2014). What keeps mobile banking customers loyal?. *International Journal of Bank Marketing*, 32(7), 628-646.

[36] Tiwari, R., & Buse, S. (2007). The mobile commerce prospects: A strategic analysis of opportunities in the banking sector (p. 33). *Hamburg: Hamburg University Press.*